I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Byron McNaught is the Petitioner/ Appellant in this matter. 

II. CITATION TO DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS 

Byron McNaught seeks review of In re Marriage of McNaught, No. 

72343-0-1. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does imposing a presumption under RCW 26.09.520 before 

a final parenting plan is entered in a dissolution of marriage action 

violate the right of access to a judge and full trial under the Washington 

Constitution and the 14th Amendment of the federal Constitutions? 

2. Does the presumption, as applied by Division One of the 

Court of Appeals, violate the equal protection clauses under Article 1, 

§ 12 of the Washington Constitution and the federal Constitution? 

3. Should review be granted where Division Two and Division 

One conflict regarding how presumptions are applied in context of 

parenting? 

4. Should the rule announced by Division One be reversed 

where it is based upon outdated social science, will put children and 

families in Washington at risk, and will spur litigation, rather than 

settlement of parenting issues? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Angelika and Byron McNaught married in 2004. RP 931; Exhibit 

25 at 97. They lived in Texas. Exhibit 130 at p. 3 and p. 7. In 2010, 

Angelika was unemployed and Byron felt his career was stifled. RP 72 at 

6-7, 23-25. He secured a position in Seattle. RP 1102 at lines 13-16. The 

parties settled into an apartment on Mercer Island. RP 940 at 23-25, and 

RP 941 at 1-3. Angelika was offered a web design position. RP 73 at 22-

25. Her employer allowed her to work from home. RP 75 at 13-17; RP 

78. 

In 2012, their daughter, AJM, was born. Exhibit 25 at p. 148. 

Byron's parents moved from Florida to Mercer Island to be near the 

family and to provide for their childcare needs. RP 845 at lines 24, and 

RP 846 at lines 2-7. Laurel McNaught became "Nana," and for the next 

15 months, provided daily child care with AJM. RP 85 2 at lines 7-19. 

AJM became very attached to her Nana and her grandfather. RP 361 at 

19-21, 23. 

In the summer of 2013, Angelika petitioned for dissolution of 

marriage. AJM was not yet two. CP 23. Parenting was hotly contested. CP 

29-39. Angelika moved for temporary orders that would allow her to 

relocate AJM to Texas. CP 166. She stated that Byron made her life 

miserable, she wanted to be near her parents, and she wanted to buy a 

house. CP 33 at 7-11. 
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The court denied the child's relocation on a temporary basis, 

awarded primary residential care to Angelika, and appointed Wendy 

Hutchins-Cook, Ph.D. to evaluate, inter alia, all aspects of a parenting 

plan and the relocation issue. CP 161, 164. Over Angelika's objection, the 

trial court also ordered that AJM's relationship and contact with her 

"N ana" would be preserved. CP 217. Laurel MeN aught would continue to 

provide child care. CP 217. 

Thereafter, Angelika reported to Dr. Hutchins-Cook that she no 

longer contemplated a change in her residence. Exhibit 25 at 104, 108. 

She realized that it was better for AJM to be near her father. RP 254 at 18-

19. She also reported that her parents were moving to Washington and 

would seek jobs here. RP 254 at 18-22. Indeed, Angelika's mother did 

move in with Angelika during this time. RP 173 at line 8. Suddenly, 

Angelika had no more need for child care and she let Laurel McNaught 

go. AJM' s contact with her N ana was reduced. RP 1129 at 1-4. 

Developmentally, at the age of two, AJM was in her critical 

bonding years when she forms basic attachments. Dr. Hutchins-Cook 

observed that AJM is very bonded with each parent. RP 291 at 13-17. She 

had also formed important attachments to her paternal grandparents and 

her maternal grandmother. RP 361 at 19-21, 23. After psychological 

testing, observation, and interviews with the parents and third parties, Dr. 

Hutchins-Cook concluded that each parent was skilled and able to parent 
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AJM. Exhibit 130 at 17. Consistent with AJM's developmental level and 

her need for gradual changes, Dr. Hutchins-Cook recommended a 

gradually shifting residential schedule that reached a 50/50 schedule by 

the time the child was 5 years old. Exhibit 130 at 19. Dr. Hutchins-Cook 

recommended strategies to reduce the emotionality of child exchanges and 

to help the parties better co-parent. RP 1186 at 21-25; 1187 at 105. 

She did not address, nor had she evaluated, the relocation issue 

because Angelika had agreed that relocation was off the table. RP 255 at 

10. Her report was issued to the parties on April25, 2014. Exhibit 130. 

One month later, six weeks before trial, and two weeks before the 

close of discovery, Angelika served on Byron a new Notice of Intent to 

Relocate. Exhibit 156. She did not intend to change her employment. RP 

78 at 4-10. That was because she could work from home. RP 78 at 4-10. 

Instead, Angelika testified extensively at trial about her conflict with 

Byron and secondarily, how much nicer the homes in Texas were 

compared to Washington. RP 443-45, 458 Yet her own financial 

declaration appeared to show she could not afford home ownership. 

Exhibit 7. Indeed, the parties rented during the marriage and the evidence 

showed that it would most likely continue. CP 594. 

Byron could not relocate to Texas. The maintenance and child 

support he had agreed to pay Angelika was based upon his Seattle salary. 
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CP 569. He had never earned the kind of salary in Texas that he earns 

here. RP 73 at 12-14; CP 569. 

AJM was only two years old at the time of trial. Dr. Hutchins

Cook testified that relocating AJM so far away at such a young age would 

transform the parent/child relationship to a visitor relationship. RP 293 at 

19-20. Effectively, AJM would lose her father. RP 392 at 18-19. 

Byron offered evidence that he planned to stay on Mercer Island 

and that the schools on Mercer Island were among the best. Exhibit 130 at 

159 (#84); RP 1252 at 13-15. He showed that AJM had toddler classes 

here, and that the plethora of activities available to AJM in Seattle were 

comparable in price to the activities available to her in Texas. RP 413 at 

1-13; Exhibit 159. 

In the end, the trial court entered cursory findings that evidenced 

little consideration of the factors and relied heavily on the presumption 

that Angelika's relocation would be permitted. CP 535-41. It then 

summarily adopted Angelika's plan. CP 539, 542. It denied Byron's 

motion for stay. CP 698. His motion for stay to the Court of Appeals was 

similarly denied. 

After briefing and oral argument in this case was completed, 

Division One issued its opinion in Larson v. City of Bellevue, a civil case, 

and then conclusorily held, without additional briefing or opportunity to 

be heard, that the same rule regarding presumptions applied in this case. 
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Its reasoning relied heavily on the presumption that a "fit parent acts in the 

best interests of her child"1 without acknowledging that where both 

parents are fit, they both are equally entitled to that presumption. In so 

doing, the court derogated from its own historic law and now conflicts 

with the law set forth by Division Two. The application of the 

presumption announced by Division One violates Byron's right of trial 

before a judge under Articles 1 and 4 of the Washington Constitution, as 

well as his right of Due Process under the 14th Amendment. The 

presumption adopted by Division One has the effect of encouraging 

relocation by allowing one parent to truncate parenting disputes in the 

dissolution of marriage actions by simply moving away. It leaves the 

children of Washington State unnecessarily vulnerable to the additional 

loss of a parent, after they have already experienced the loss of an intact 

family upon divorce. This petition follows. 

V. ARGUMENT 

1. Imposing Presumption before Final Parenting Plan 

Entered in a Dissolution of Marriage Action Violates Right of Due 

Process. RCW 26.09.184 and .187 mandate the careful consideration of the 

best interests of the child when determining a fmal parenting plan upon 

dissolution of marriage. These statutes place greatest weight on the relative 

relationship of child with each parent, not day to day childcare. RCW. 26.09. 
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187. See also, In reMarriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 809, 854 P.2d 629 

(1993) (Primary residential parent given no preference when forming a fmal 

parenting plan). They are consistent with the legislative policy articulated in 

RCW 26.09.002 of the fimdamental importance of the parent-child 

relationship to the welfare of the child. They also reflect the fimdamental 

liberty interest parents have in the care, custody, and management of their 

child. Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753, 102 S.Ct. 1388 (1982) 

(Termination of parental rights requires clear, cogent and convincing 

evidence). That right does not erode simply because one parent has provided 

a greater proportion of the day to day care of the child. See RCW 

26.09.187(3)(a) and (3)(a)(i), (iii). Regardless of status as a non-primary 

care parent, that parent continues to retain a vital interest in preventing the 

destruction of a relationship with his or her child. See Santosky, 455 U.S. at 

758. 

This fimdamental right has been interpreted to mean that parents 

must have full access to the courts with a meaningful opportunity to be 

heard. Bay v. Jensen 147 Wn. App. 641, 656, 196 P.3d 753 (2008) 

(Restricting father's right to enforce parenting plan until court ordered sums 

paid violated right of due process.). The Wyoming Supreme Court has held 

that access to courts is insufficient where issues are decided by a judge in an 

unreported hearing. Matter of SAJ, 942 P.2d 407, 409-10 (Wyo.1997). In 

SAJ, Wyoming Supreme Court explained: 
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One of the basic elements of due process is the right of each 
party to be apprised of all the evidence upon which an issue 
is to be decided, with the right to examine, explain or rebut 
such evidence. And, the right to hear and controvert all 
evidence upon which a factual adjudication is to be made 
includes the right to hear and cross-examine witnesses. 

Matter ofSAJ, 942 P.2d at 409-10 (Wyo.1997). [emphasis added]. 

In this case, the parties were involved in a dissolution of marriage 

action where no final parenting plan had been decided under RCW 

26.09.184, .187. A hearing for temporary parenting plan was held in which 

the goal was to enter a temporary plan that causes the least disruption to a 

child's stability while the action is pending? RCW 26.09.194. A court 

commissioner entered a plan based upon affidavits limited in page number 

and argument of counsel limited to 5 minutes per side. KCLFLR 6( e )(f). It 

gave temporary primary care to Angelika and ordered an evaluation by Dr. 

Wendy Hutchins-Cook to evaluate, inter alia, the parties' competing 

parenting allegations. 

At trial, the court should have disregarded the temporary plan and 

applied RCW 26.09.187 to independently determine the primary parent, if 

any. Thereafter, it could have determined the relocation issue. Instead, the 

court relied on RCW 26.09.405, 520 and summarily adopted the temporary 

2 A court may not use a temporary parenting plan as a basis from which to adopt a final 
parenting plan. In reMarriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 809, 854 P.2d 629 
(1993)(Primary residential parent given no preference when forming a final parenting 
plan). 
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parenting plan as conclusively establishing Angelika as the pnmary 

residential parent entitled to the presumption of relocation. Thereafter, it 

relied on the presumption to grant the relocation. 

Byron had no notice that the temporary order of a commissioner 

would effectively become the final determination of who would be the 

primary residential parent of their child. He had no meaningful opportunity 

to be heard on a right as fundamentally important as parenting. The trial 

court's reliance on a temporary order-- based upon incomplete evidence, no 

live testimony, and no opportunity for cross examination -- that Angelika 

was the primary residential parent entitled to the presumption in favor of 

relocation, violated Byron's right of access to a judge under Article 1, §3 and 

Article 4, §23 of the Washington Constitution, and his right of due process 

under the 14th Amendment. The judgment should be reversed. 

2. Presumption as Applied by Division One Violates Equal 

Protection Clause. The equal protection clause under the state and federal 

constitutions guarantee that people similarly situated under the law will 

receive similar treatment from the State. Article 1, §3 Washington 

Constitution; State v. Schaaf, 109 Wn.2d 1, 17, 743 P.2d 240 (1987). To 

establish an equal protection violation, a party must first show that the 

unequal treatment is directed towards two similarly situated people. Cosro, 

Inc., v. Liquor Control Bd 107 Wn.2d 754, 760,733 P.2d 539 (1987). 

In this case, both Byron and Angelika are parents with equal 
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ftmdamental rights to the care, custody and control of their child. In a 

dissolution of marriage proceeding, a trial court must use the "best interests" 

standard when making an initial primary residential placement. In re 

Marriage of Pape, 139 Wn.2d 694, 715, 989 P.2d 1120 (1999), citing RCW 

26.09.187(3). It is only in a modification action, that a court presumes the 

best interests of the child require the primary placement remain intact. Pape, 

139 Wn.2d at 715. RCW 26.09.260(1). 

Yet Division One not only applied the presumption in the context of 

a dissolution of marriage action, it also reasoned that a non-primary 

residential parent bears both the burden of production and the burden of 

persuasion in a relocation action because "a fit parent is preswned to act in 

the best interests of her child." McNaught, at 3. This rule was derived from a 

case involving a parent and non-parent. See, In re Parentage ofC.A.MA., 54 

Wn.2d 52, 62, 109 P.3d 405 (2005). By contrast, this case involves two 

parents with equal rights under the law. That Division One would apply this 

presumption only to Angelika and not presume that Byron, as a fit parent, is 

also acting in the best interests of his child belies its bias and constitutes 

unequal treatment of two similarly situated parties. The presumption should 

not have applied before an initial parenting plan was determined under RCW 

26.09.187. Thereafter, the presumption should have imposed a burden of 

production only, because both fit parents are preswned to act in the best 

interests of their children. 
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3. Divisions Conflict in Applying Presumptions in Context of 

Parenting. The application of presumptions under Washington law is not 

clear and in the context of parenting, the Divisions disagree about how they 

are to be applied. In In re Estate of Langeland, Division One stated: 

This lack of clarity exists, at least in part, because 
Washington cases apply the Thayer theory to some, but 
not all, presumptions and provide no general rule about 
when it applies. Other cases identify presumptions that 
shift the burden of proof. To further complicate the 
problem, the quantum of evidence required to overcome a 
burden-shifting presumption varies, and Washington 
cases do not provide any general guidelines or standards. 
As a result, "the subject of presumptions is one of 
impossible difficulty for lawyers, and trial judges as 
well." 

In re Estate of Langeland, 177 Wn. App. 315, 321, 312 P.3d 657 (2013), 

citing 5 Tegland, § 301.14, at 238. 

Historically, Division One was consistent m its application of 

presumptions in the context of family law. In Bank of Washington v. Hilltop 

Shakemill, Inc., the court first underscored that a presumption is not 

evidence, but that rather, the purpose of a presumption is to establish which 

party has the burden of first producing evidence. Hilltop Shakemill, Inc., 26 

Wn. App. 943, 946, 948, 614 P.2d 1319 (1980). (Debtor rebutted 

presumption that debt was community in character). Once the opposing party 

has produced evidence to overcome the presumption, the trial court must 

then discard the presumption, evaluate the evidence presented by both 
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parties, and reach its conclusion. Hilltop Shakemill, Inc., 26 Wn. App. at 

948. Division One applied this burden-shifting presumption in the context of 

community property law, a presumption that must be rebutted with clear, 

cogent, and convincing evidence. In reMarriage ofChumbley, 150 Wn.2d 1, 

5, 74 P.3d 129 (2003). 

The treatment of the presumption by Division One in Hilltop 

Shakemill, is consistent with how it has been applied by Division Two in the 

context of parenting. In In re Welfare ofC.B., Division Two held that where 

a parent's Constitutional rights are at issue, a statutory presumption requires 

a parent to assume the burden of production, but not the heavier burden of 

persuasion. In re Welfare of C.B., 134 Wn. App. 942, 955, 43 P.3d 846 

(2006) (State bears burden of persuasion in termination proceedings). 

Until now, there has been no guidance in applying the presumption 

contained in the Child Relocation Act. RCW 26.09.520. This is particularly 

so in the context of a dissolution of marriage action, where no final parenting 

plan has yet been entered under RCW 26.09.184, .187. Under the RCW 

26.09.520, a court presumes in the context of modification that the intended 

relocation of a child by a primary residential parent will be permitted. That is 

consistent with the reasoning of this Court in Pape, that the initial 

determination of the best interests of the children has already been made. 

Pape, 139 Wn.2d at 715. 

But while all presumptions are rebuttable, the Legislature 
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emphasized it by expressly characterizing the preswnption as "rebuttable." 

RCW 26.09.520. Thus, the primary residential parent enjoys the preswnption 

that the best interests of the child are served by remaining with that parent. 

This preswnption imposes on the objecting parent the burden to demonstrate 

that the harm to the child outweighs the benefit of relocation to the child and 

the relocating parent. In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 895, 93 

P.3d 124 (2004); RCW 26.09.520. That showing is made by a 

preponderance of the evidence. In reMarriage ofWehr, 165 Wn. App. 610, 

613, 267 P.3d 1045 (2011) (Parent successfully rebutted preswnption of 

relocation). 

But once a parent has produced the requisite evidence, the function 

of the preswnption has been satisfied and should be discarded, consistent 

with the "fundamental importance of the parent-child relationship" as 

expressed in RCW 26.09.002 and as Constitutionally mandated to ensure 

equal treatment of parents under the law. This is also consistent with the 

historical application of preswnptions in the context of family law in both 

Division One and Division Two. 

But that is not what Division One held. Instead, after this case had 

been fully briefed and the court had heard oral argwnent, it decided Larson 

v. Bellevue, involving the application of a preswnption in a civil case. Larson 

v. City of Bellevue, -- P .3d -- (20 15 WL 4204116). Without requesting any 

additional briefmg or argwnent in this case, it then conclusorily adopted the 
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same rules of presumption to this case. In Larson v. City of Bellevue, Division 

One held that, based upon its review of legislative policy, the city retained 

both the burden of production and the burden of persuasion to show that the 

occupational disease suffered by Larson was not attributable to his work as a 

firefighter. Larson, -- P .3d at 7. 

The court, with little analysis, then summarily held in this case, that 

in the context of a dissolution of marriage proceeding, where no final 

parenting plan has yet been considered or entered, an objecting parent retains 

both the burden of production and the burden of persuasion to show that the 

detriment of a relocation outweighs the benefit to the child and relocating 

party. In so doing, it engaged in no meaningful analysis of its deviation from 

precedent or the Constitutional implications involving both parents. 

McNaught, at 3. 

Instead, it avoided the issue by characterizing Byron's argument as 

"mechanical" and relying on the inapposite presumption that "a fit parent is 

presumed to act in the best interests of her child," [emphasis added]. 

McNaught, at 3. But this quoted presumption arises from cases involving a 

parent and non-parent. See, In re Parentage of C.A.MA., 54 Wn.2d 52, 62, 

109 PJd 405 (2005). In this case, both parents are fit parents and both are 

therefore presumed to be acting in the best interests of their child. 

In this case, Division One applied the presumption in the context of a 

dissolution of marriage, not modification action. But then, it went further. 
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Instead of interpreting the presumption that would preserve a balanced 

approach to the issue, it put its thumb on the scale of the relocating parent to 

accord greater preference than the statutory scheme envisions. This is 

contrary to legislative intent. Division One failed to appreciate that a rule 

appropriate in a civil context involving parties of unequal footing, does not 

apply in the context of family law, where the Constitutional rights of both 

parents are equal and the best interests of the child is squarely before the 

court. In effect, the court's decision converted the presumption under RCW 

26.09.520 into conclusive evidence that is virtually unrebuttable. 

The effect is well illustrated by the facts of this case. The relocation 

presumption operated to allow the relocation where a) the parties' two year 

old child would essentially lose her father if relocated (RP 392 at 18); b) the 

mother wanted to move because she subjectively considered the father to be 

harassing; and c) the mother would consider no other less expensive place in 

Washington to live other than on Mercer Island. Her employment would not 

change. Byron could not also relocate because he was required to support 

her based upon his Seattle income. If a parent can relocate for these reasons, 

with these consequences, there are few, if any relocations a trial court could 

restrain. 

4. Division One Extends Law to Detriment of Washington 

Citizens. In In re Marriage of Pape, the seminal case from which the 

relocation statute was codified, this Court addressed plainly the thorniness of 
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the relocation issue. It acknowledged that the interests of a primary 

residential parent in moving are pitted a) against those parents who will be 

left behind, as well as b) potentially the interests of the child, which may 

or may not conflict with the interests of one or both parents. Pape, 139 

Wn.2d at 706, citing Tropea. 87 N.Y.2d at 736, 642 N.Y.S.2d 575, 665 

N.E.2d 145; Ireland v. Ireland, 246 Conn. 413, 421, 717 A.2d 676 (1998). 

This Court also recognized in the context of relocation, there are times 

when one parent's proffered move is really "a pretext for minimizing the 

child's contact with the parent, who will be left behind." Pape, 139 Wn.2d 

694, 717, 989 P.2d 1120 (1999). 

In addressing how to resolve the issue, this Court relied both on 

Washington's statutory scheme as well as the prevailing social science of the 

day. Pape, 139 Wn.2d at 708-09. It stated that the controversy over its 

evolving decisions regarding relocations constituted: 

a "serious gap" between popular perceptions as to what is 
in a child's best interests and a growing body of social 
science literature that has identified the child's relationship 
with his or her primary caretaker as the single most 
important factor affecting the child's welfare, when the 
child's parents do not live together. 

Pape, 139 Wn.2d at 708. This Court went on to harmonize this science with 

RCW 26.09.260, which emphasizes "custodial continuity" in the context of 

modification actions, after the best interests of a child have already been 

determined in a divorce. Pape, 139 Wn.2d at 709. 

16 



Ultimately, this Court in Pape, articulated a rule that addressed both 

a relocating parent's potential for self-interest as against the prevailing 

wisdom of the day that children do best when they remain with their primary 

residential parent. Specifically, this Court held, inter alia, that a parent 

proposing to relocate must show a bona fide reason for the move, such as a 

change in employment or educational opportunity. Pape, 139 Wn.2d at 716. 

To restrict the move, the objecting parent must show that the reason is not 

bona fide and further that, consistent with the conclusions of social science 

that staying with the primary parent would ensure the wellbeing of the child, 

the relocation would cause detriment to the child beyond the infrequent 

contact with the non-relocating parent. Pape, 139 Wn.2d at 717. 

The holding of Pape was largely codified in what is now the Child

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