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

IV. ARGUMENT 

a. Imposing A Presumption in The Dissolution Does Not Violate 

Due Process. Petitioner argues that imposing a presumption before a final 

parenting plan is entered violates due process. This is not correct. 

As a factual matter, to the extent that "due process" means the right 

to a trial, Mr. McNaught clearly had due process. He had a multi-day trial; 

he had counsel; he called every witness he wanted to call. He had the 

testimony of a parenting evaluator. He had many pages of evidence. The 

record is voluminous. He cannot - with a straight face - argue that he was 

not given a hearing. 

Petitioner is correct that to have due process, the parents must have 

full access to the courts with a meaningful opportunity to be heard. Bay v. 

Jensen, 147 Wash.App. 641,656, 196 P.3d 753 (2008). Byron had a full 

trial, in every sense of the word. 

Petitioner seems to be arguing that the presumption in the 

Relocation Act is either unconstitutional or violates due process. 

A party asserting that a statute is unconstitutional must, by 

argument and research, persuade the court that there is no reasonable 

doubt that the statute violates the Constitution. Island County v. State, 135 
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Wash.2d 141, 146-47,955 P.2d 377 (1997). Mr. McNaught has not done 

that. 

No Washington court has found that. In fact, Washington courts 

have consistently found the opposite. One example is Osborne v. Osborne, 

119 Wash.App. 133, 144, 70 P.3d 465 (Div I, 2003). Osborne noted that 

unlike Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 66, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 2059, 147 

L.Ed.2d 49 (2000), or In Re Custody of Smith, 137 Wash.2d 1, 20, 969 

P.2d 21 (1998), which establishes visitation rights, the Relocation Act 

"establishes a rebuttable presumption that the relocation of the child will 

be allowed. Thus, the Act both incorporates and gives substantial weight 

to the traditional presumption that a fit parent will act in the best interests 

of her child. The burden of overcoming that presumption is on the 

objecting party, who can only prevail by demonstrating that the 

detrimental effect of the relocation upon the child outweighs the benefit of 

the change to the child and the relocating person." Osborne at 144, citing 

RCW 26.09.510. 

Osborne also found that the Relocation Act had none of the defects 

that caused the US Supreme Court with respect to RCW 26.1 0.160(3), or 

the Washington Supreme Court to find the former RCW 26.09.240, 

facially unconstitutional. Osborne at 145-146. 
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Because the Relocation Act is constitutional, the only possible due 

process violation is whether the test in Marriage of Homer, 151 Wash.2d 

884, 895, 93 P.3rd 124 (2004); Osborne, and Kim, supra, violates Mr. 

McNaught's due process rights. It clearly does not. 

Homer is very clear that the interests and circumstances of the 

relocating parent are particularly important. The standard for relocation is 

not only the best interest of the child. Instead, the trial court must consider 

the child and the relocating party within the context of the competing 

circumstances and interest required by the Relocation Act. Homer at 895. 

Homer, and the Relocation Act itself, does not deal specifically 

with divorces where relocation is an issue in the divorce trial. The one 

case dealing directly with that is Marriage of Kim, 179 Wash.App. 232, 

240-242, 317 P.3d 555 (2014), Pet. Den, 180 Wash.2d 1012, 325 P.3d 

914. 

First, Marriage of Kim, citing Homer at 895, found that where the 

trial court makes a decision on the "best interests of the child", Kim at 

243-244, it overlooks the statutory presumption that a proposed relocation 

will benefit the child and, therefore, will be granted. Kim at 245. Thus a 

relocation decision, based solely on a "best interests" test, as proposed by 
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Petitioner, is not a mere "interpretation" of a statute; it is contrary to the 

plain language of the Statute itself. 

Second, because Kim is a case where the court made a relocation 

decision as part of the final divorce trial, the Kim directive is clear: in a 

trial where relocation is an issue, the trial court must first decide who the 

primary residential parent is, and then apply the Relocation Act factors 

(and the presumption) to decide whether the child may move. But the 

question of who the primary residential parent has been, in a divorce trial, 

is primarily a factual decision, not a legal one. 

The court heard testimony on both relocation factors and the 

parenting history of the parties. The evidence and testimony was clear that 

Angelika had been the primary residential parent, in that she had provided 

the majority of the child's care during the marriage, and the child was 

more bonded to her than to the father. The parenting evaluator's testimony 

supported that conclusion. Mr. McNaught himself agreed that Alaina was 

more bonded, in effect, to her mother. This finding had nothing to do with 

the temporary order. 

There is no due process violation. The trial court did not simply 

use the temporary order as a shortcut; the evidence was overwhelming that 

Angelika was and had been since birth, the primary residential parent. 
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We would note that this court has probably considered the due 

process rights of a non-relocating party, when it denied review of Marriage 

of Kim. This issue has been decided. 

2. The Presumption in Division I Cases Do Not Conflict with Due 

Process. Petitioner argues that Division I cases treat fathers and mothers 

unequally. 

This is patently not true. A divorce, by definition, divides the 

children's time between the parents. But while both parents have a 

fundamental right to a relationship with their children, vis-a-vis the State, 

there is no fundamental due process right, under the Constitution, to any 

specific amount of time vis-a-vis the other parent. There is no due 

process right to half the time with the child. 

Petitioner argues that Division I was wrong when it found that the 

non-primary parent bears the burden of proof. But that burden is an 

inherent part of the Relocation Act itself, not Division I. 

3. Divisions Do Not Conflict in Applying Presumptions. Petitioner 

argues that the application of presumptions under Washington law differ 

between jurisdictions, and cites Bank of Washington v. Hilltop Shakemill, 

Inc., 266 Wash. App. 943,946,614 P.2d 1319 (1980). Hilltop Shakemill, 
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Inc. is a case dealing with community debt, not parenting, and not with a 

statute that specifically provides for a controlling presumption. 

There are no cases, in Division I or II, that we can find, where the 

courts' decisions in relocation cases applied the Relocation Act 

presumption differently. 

It is true that in Welfare ofC.B, 134 Wash.App. 942,955,43 P.3d 

846 (2006), Division II held that where a parent's Constitutional rights are 

at issue, the statutory presumption requires a parent to assume the burden 

of production but not persuasion. But that is qualitatively very different 

from a relocation case, where the Act provides for a rebuttable 

presumption, and where the rights are those between the parents, and not a 

parent versus the State. 

Petitioner then argues that when an objecting parent produces 

"proof", the presumption should go away, and the parents should then be 

on a level playing field. The court should note there is no definition of 

what amount of "proof' would be sufficient to discard the presumption. 

That is because there is no way to separate the burden of proof from the 

presumption in the Act. 

That proposition is completely contrary to the Relocation Act, 

which states that the relocation will be allowed (emphasis added) unless 
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the objecting party proves that "the detrimental effect of the relocation 

outweighs the benefit of the change to the child and the relocating person, 

based upon the [11 child relocation] factors." RCW 26.09.520. 

It is not the relocating party's job to argue for the presumption to 

apply. That is not the nature of a "presumption". Under the Act, the 

presumption is built in. The relocating parent may move unless the 

presumption is rebutted; clearly the objecting party has the burden of 

proof. But "production" and "persuasion" go hand in hand. "Rebutting" a 

presumption implies both a requirement for evidence; and persuading a 

court that it is sufficient to overcome the presumption. 

A trial is not a summary judgment hearing, where a prima facie 

case is sufficient to avoid summary judgment. It is a weighing of factors, 

like any decision in a divorce case. 

It is impossible to separate the existence of "proof' from the 

weight of it. There is no such thing, in a divorce trial, as a bright line 

standard for "rebutting" the presumption, just as there is no bright line test 

for deciding a parenting plan, awarding maintenance, or dividing assets. It 

is always a complex matter of hearing testimony and evidence from both 

parties; weighing the validity, relevance, truthfulness, etc., of the 
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witnesses, evidence, and testimony; and then deciding if the totality of all 

the evidence is sufficient to rebut the presumption. 

4. Division I Does Not "Extend the Law To The Detriment of 

Washington Citizens". Petitioner initially seems to argue for the rule in 

Marriage ofPape, 139 Wash.2d 694,989 P.2d 1120 (1999). But Pape -as 

Petitioner points out - has been overruled by the Relocation Act. 

Petitioner goes on to argue that in the past twenty years, research 

has shown that the social findings in the Act are supposedly simplistic and 

detrimental when applied as a bright line. 

We absolutely do not agree that two articles- which were never 

before the trial court, or the appellate court, and which have unknown and 

unverifiable credibility or weight - are relevant to this case. 

But "social science" is not a basis to find a statute unconstitutional, 

or to throw out all of the existing case law. That is left to the Legislature, 

not the courts. The presumption in the ACT is statutory in nature; and the 

Court has long since held the ACT is constitutional. 

The ACT does not act to harm Washington citizens. Both parties 

here are Washington citizens; the ACT acts to resolve parenting and 

relocation disputes between parents. Obviously - as is true in almost all 

family law trials - one side, or both, inevitably feel they got hurt, and the 

REPLY BRIEF OF RESPONDENT 22 



'• 

law was applied to their detriment. That does not mean the Act is 

detrimental to Washington citizens. Byron certainly felt it was applied to 

his detriment; but Angelika was also a Washington resident, and the exact 

same Act was applied to her benefit. The fact the application of a family 

law statute makes one half of the litigants unhappy does not mean it is 

unconstitutional. 

Petitioner asks the court to as a legislature; make a value judgment 

as to what parenting plans are appropriate, and a value judgment as to 

whether any move is in the best interest of any child. In no uncertain 

terms, he is asking the court to find that the ACT is bad for children and 

should be thrown out. 

That is not within the purview of the court. On an individual level, 

that is within the purview of the trial court, which can - and did - hear 

expert testimony on the effect of a move on the child. (And decided there 

was little detriment.) On a macro level, it is the job of the legislature to 

consider "social science", in deciding how to deal with parents moves. 

There is no evidence that the ACT "spurs" litigation. Indeed, it 

arguably acts to discourage litigation. By creating a rebuttable 

presumption, it makes it harder to fight a parent's moving; and that 

discourages litigation over moving parents. 
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IV. AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES IS WARRANTED. 

Attorney fees are awarded on the basis of need and ability to pay; 

and at the appellate level under RAP 18.1. There was no question Byron 

had superior resources and greater income than Angelika did. It was also 

clear that in the future, Byron would be making more money; Angelika 

would not. 

Byron testified that with his current income of$140,000 per year, 

he only had expenses of$4,959 per month. RP at 1257; Trial Exhibit 17. 

He expected to make about $12,000 per month this year. RP at 1256. (This 

was without maintenance or child support factored in.) His W-2, bank 

statements, and his 2013 tax return all support the court's decision that he 

has ample ability to pay. See Trial Exhibits 7 (W-2); 14 (Husband's 2013 

tax return), and Exhibit 109 (Husband's Bank Statements). 

An award of attorney fees was well within the discretion of the 

trial court. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Petitioner would ask the court to find (1) the application of the 

Relocation Act presumption, in a divorce trial, is a new issue; (2) that the 

presumption that is integral to the Relocation Act should be discarded if 

the objecting parent can supply a minimal undefined modicum of 
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evidence; and (3) the court should overturn the entire Relocation Act 

because of an article. 

None of these are bases for considering this appeal. This is, in fact, 

a run-of-the-mill divorce case, where the evidence was very strong that the 

mother had been, and was, the primary residential parent, and where the 

reasons for relocating were very strong. The court used well-settled law in 

making its decision. There is no conflict between Divisions; there is no 

real ambiguity in the application of the Relocation Act. This Court should 

deny the Petition. 

We would ask the court to deny the appeal and award the mother 

attorney fees under RAP 18.1.